ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

AUG 05 2013

Certiorari to Charleston County
Stephanie P. McDonald, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

LORD BYRON SLATER,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-212846

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in derogation of petitioner's Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights by failing to move to suppress (1) petitioner's statements, and (2) evidence flowing from petitioner's statements because petitioner's statements were given after inadequate warnings pursuant to Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)?

STATEMENT

On May 1, 2001, a Charleston County grand jury indicted Lord Byron Slater (“Slater”) for murder and a related weapons charge. App. 856 - 59. On November 13 – 15, 2001, Slater was tried before the Honorable Edward B. Cottingham and a jury. App. 1. Dale DuTremble and Elizabeth Sumner represented the State. App. 1. Ashley Pennington and Boyd Young represented Slater. App. 1. The jury convicted Slater on both counts. App. 557, l. 24 – 558, l. 10. Judge Cottingham sentenced Slater to life imprisonment. App. 579, l. 2 – 581, l. 4. The Court of Appeals reversed Slater’s conviction. State v. Slater, 360 S.C. 487, 682 S.E.2d 90 (Ct. App. 2004); App. 681 - 86. The Court of Appeals held that the trial judge erred in refusing to give a self-defense charge. Id. This Court reversed the Court of Appeals. State v. Slater, 373 S.C. 66, 644 S.E.2d 50 (2007); App. 741-43. This Court held a self-defense charge was not warranted. Id.

On May 23, 2007, Slater filed a PCR application. App. 744. On November 16, 2009, a hearing was held on Slater’s PCR application before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson. App. 764. Matthew Friedman represented the State. App. 764. William Runion represented Slater. App. 764. On December 21, 2009, Judge Jefferson denied Slater’s PCR application. App. 814 No appeal was filed. App. 853. On May 10, 2011, Slater filed another PCR application. App. 823. On July 24, 2012, a hearing was held on this PCR application before the Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald. App. 839. Ashleigh Wilson represented the State and Charles T. Brooks represented Slater. App. 839. Slater and the State entered into a consent order granting Slater a belated appeal of his first

PCR application pursuant to Austin v. State, 305 S.C. 453, 409 S.E.2d 395 (1991).¹ App. 851. This appeal follows.

¹ At the PCR hearing, Slater himself – not his attorney – argued that he should be allowed the opportunity to file a motion pursuant to Rule 59(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure in order to have issues that were raised in his application ruled upon that were not addressed by Judge Jefferson in her order. App. 847, ll. 12 – 20. Petitioner's counsel did not advance this argument on his behalf and instead signed a consent order which only granted a belated appeal and waived and dismissed with prejudice any other allegations. App. 855.

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in derogation of petitioner's Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights by failing to move to suppress (1) petitioner's statements, and (2) evidence flowing from petitioner's statements because petitioner's statements were given after inadequate warnings pursuant to Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Relevant Facts

Slater testified in his own defense. This incident occurred in February 2001, when Slater was only nineteen years old. App. 434, ll. 2 – 6. On the night of February 3, 2001, Slater drove to North Charleston High School. App. 434, ll. 15 – 22. There was a dance at the high school. App. 435, ll. 8 – 16. Slater was talking to some girls outside when a commotion began. App. 435, l. 20 – 436, l. 8. Slater took his gun out of his car. App. 436, ll. 15 – 17. Slater's intent when he got the gun was only to shoot the gun in the air. App. 482, ll. 21 – 25. Slater changed his mind and did not shoot the gun into the air. App. 438, l. 15 – 439, l. 1. When Slater walked back to his car, he noticed a separate commotion – a fight. App. 439, ll. 16 – 440, l. 30.

Slater walked over to the fight. App. 440, ll. 1 – 3. He “just wanted to see what was going on.” App. 440, ll. for – 5. He still had the gun. App. 440, ll. 6 – 8. A man was on the ground. App. 440, l. 25 – 441, l. 3. Several other people were fighting. App. 440, l. 9 – 442, l. 5. Slater's approach surprised one of the men. App. 442, ll. 8 – 18. The man turned to Slater. App. 442, ll. 8 – 18. The man had a gun in his hand. App. 442, ll. 8 – 18. When Slater saw the gun, he ran. App. 442, ll. 8 – 18. Slater heard a gunshot. App. 442, ll. 8 – 18. He returned fire. App. 442, ll. 8 – 18. On cross-examination, Slater was forced to admit that the evidence at trial showed that bullets fired from his gun killed the decedent. App. 473, ll. 9 – 16.

In its opinion finding that a self-defense charge was not warranted, this Court placed great emphasis on the fact that Slater was unlawfully in possession of a pistol. App. 742-43. The reason for this was Slater was nineteen years old, and the law at the time required a person to be twenty-one years old in order to possess a pistol. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-30(A)(3) (2001). This statute was amended in 2008 to allow persons eighteen years and older to possess a handgun. See 2008 Act No. 192, § 1, eff. Apr. 2, 2008, *and current version of* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-30(A)(3) (2001). This Court held that “Slater’s unlawful possession of the weapon was the proximate cause of the homicide.” App. 743.

The Defective Miranda Warning and Slater’s Statements

On February 4, 2001, at approximately 5:00 AM, Slater was arrested at his house by Officer Chris Widmer (“Widmer”). App. 318, l. 19 – 321, l. 19. Widmer read Slater his Miranda rights. App. 321, ll. 20 – 22. Widmer testified that he used a card to read Slater his Miranda warnings. App. 321, l. 23 – 301, l. 22. Widmer’s card did not contain the warning that Slater could stop speaking with the police at any time. App. 322, ll. 9 – 22; App. 334, ll. 3 – 9. Widmer did not obtain a written waiver from Slater.

According to Widmer’s testimony before the jury, Widmer made several statements. First, Slater supposedly said that the police “were mistaken” in apprehending him. App. 323, ll. 4 – 7. Widmer asked Slater if he owned any guns. App. 324, ll. 4 – 10. Slater admitted that he owned a nine millimeter pistol and a .25 caliber pistol. App. 324, ll. 8 – 12. Widmer then testified that based, in part, on the information Slater provided about these handguns, the police obtained a search warrant for Slater’s residence. App. 324, l. 13 – 325, l. 5. A nine millimeter handgun was found in the closet of Slater’s bedroom. App. 325, l. 23 – 326, l. 9. This handgun was later determined to be the weapon that fired the bullets that killed the decedent. App. 372, ll. 18 – 23. Officer Widmer

further testified that Slater admitted being at the high school, had heard shooting, but that he did not shoot anyone. App. 327, ll. 2 – 10.

Discussion

Trial counsel provided constitutionally ineffective assistance that prejudiced Slater. Trial counsel failed to move to suppress Slater's statements as well as the evidence obtained pursuant to the search warrant because the Miranda warnings given to Slater omitted that he had a right to stop answering questions at any time. In a post-conviction relief proceeding, a petitioner may be granted relief based on ineffective assistance of counsel if he shows: (1) that trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). To prove prejudice petitioner must show that there was a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would be different. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). A "reasonable probability" is simply a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. See Johnson v. State 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997).

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel admitted that he failed to object to Slater's statements based on Widmer's defective Miranda warnings both at the Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), hearing and during the trial. App. 768, ll. 7 – 773, l. 21. Trial counsel admitted he had an obligation to object to this testimony and to the trial judge's instructions regarding it. App. 773, ll. 13 – 21.

The PCR court held that trial counsel was not ineffective because Slater received complete Miranda warnings. App. 819. Judge Jefferson also held that Slater was not prejudiced because he continued to answer questions from the police in a similar way after a different policeman gave him

complete Miranda warnings. App. 819-20. Both of these holdings are erroneous and should be reversed.

At the time of Slater's arrest, the binding appellate precedent concerning Miranda warnings was State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 479 S.E.2d 838 (Ct. App. 1997) *aff'd as modified* 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998). In Kennedy, the Court of Appeals held that:

A suspect in custody may not be subjected to interrogation unless he is informed that: [1] he has the right to remain silent; [2] anything he says can be used against him in a court of law; [3] he has a right to the presence of an attorney; [4] if he cannot afford an attorney, one will be appointed for him prior to any questioning, if he so desires; **and [5] he has the right to terminate the interrogation at any time and not to answer any further questions.**

Id. at 303, 479 S.E.2d at 842 (emphasis added). The emphasized language in Kennedy—the right to stop answering questions—is known as the “Fifth Warning.” See Commonwealth v. Lewis, 371 N.E.2d 775, 776-77 (Mass. 1978). Giving the Fifth Warning—as opposed to omitting it—is recognized as the better practice for police. Id. The Fifth Warning comes directly from Miranda, which states, “Once warnings have been given, the subsequent procedure is clear. If the individual indicates in any manner, at any time prior to or during questioning, that he wishes to remain silent, the interrogation must cease.” Miranda, 384 U.S. at 473 – 74.

While appellate counsel acknowledges that the Fifth Warning had not been mandated by the United States Supreme Court at the time of Slater's arrest, it had been recognized as one of the warnings required in South Carolina by the Court of Appeals in Kennedy. The PCR court cited State v. Cannon, 260 S.C. 537, 197 S.E.2d 678 (1973) for the proposition that the Fifth Warning was not required by South Carolina. App. 819. While this is a correct statement of the holding of Cannon, the Court of Appeals' decision in Kennedy came after twenty-four years of additional jurisprudence on Miranda warnings. The Kennedy court's recitation of the required Miranda

warnings was binding on the trial court and was not an unreasonable interpretation of Miranda. But see State v. Hoyle, 397 S.C. 622, 626-29, 725 S.E.2d 720, 722-24 (Ct. App. 2012) (stating that recitation of the Fifth Warning in Kennedy was dicta and Cannon controlled result). In fact, the second officer to question Slater gave him the Fifth Warning. App. 345, ll. 12 – 17.

In Davis v. United States, 131 S.Ct. 2419 (2011), the court held that police may rely in good faith on “binding appellate precedent” even when such precedent is in error. Davis, 131 S.Ct. at 2434. This Court adopted the good faith rule of Davis in State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 736 S.E.2d 263 (2012). If this Court determines that Kennedy was an erroneous decision, the logic of Davis should be equally applicable to errors in favor of criminal defendants. Kennedy was in force at the time of Slater’s arrest and it is undisputed that the warnings given by Officer Widmer did not comply with Kennedy. By the Davis and Brown Courts’ reasoning, the error should inure to Slater’s benefit and this Court should find that as of the time of Slater’s arrest, binding appellate precedent required the giving of the Fifth Warning.² The PCR court also found that trial counsel was credible and trial counsel admitted he should have objected on this ground. App. 819. Therefore, the PCR court erred in finding that the Fifth Warning was not required and trial counsel was not ineffective.

The PCR court also erred in finding that Slater was not prejudiced. Slater’s statements after the defective warning had two effects. First, they directly led police to the weapon that killed the decedent. Had the statement been suppressed, the search of Slater’s residence also would have been suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963). Had the handgun been suppressed, it is extremely likely that Slater would have been acquitted.

² Slater also urges this Court to require police to give the Fifth Warning. It clearly affords defendants greater protection of their right against self-incrimination under both the federal and South Carolina Constitutions. S.C. Const. art. I, § 12.

Second, Slater's statements that he had nothing to do with the shooting were later used to impeach his credibility when he testified at trial. On cross-examination, the following occurred:

Q. Asked a lot of questions. One of the questions was, did you have a gun in your car. You told him no; didn't you?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. That was a lie; wasn't it?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. He asked you, did you ever shoot a gun that night, and you told him no; didn't you?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. That was a lie; wasn't it?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You've had nine months to make up the lies we've heard today; haven't you?

A. No, sir.

App. 472, ll. 12 – 25. This cross-examination undoubtedly damaged Slater's credibility and made it less likely that the jury would believe his testimony. Had Slater's credibility not been impeached, there was a reasonable possibility the outcome of the trial would have been different.