STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-212846

LORD BYRON SLATER,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

ASHLEIGH R. WILSON
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737
#100269

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

OCT 21 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

QUESTION PRESENTED

- I. Is there probative evidence to support the lower court's ruling that counsel was not ineffective for failing to move to suppress the Petitioner's statement and evidence flowing from the statement when the Miranda warning given the Petitioner was complete and South Carolina courts do not require advisement of the right to terminate questioning at any time?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For purposes of this Return, the Respondent adopts the Petitioner's Statement.

ARGUMENT

There is probative evidence to support the lower court's ruling that counsel was not ineffective for failing to move to suppress the Petitioner's statement on the basis that the Miranda warning given was incomplete when South Carolina courts do not require Miranda warnings include the right to terminate questioning at any time.

The Petitioner asserts that the post-conviction relief court erred by finding counsel was not ineffective for failing to move to suppress the Petitioner's statements and evidence flowing from the Petitioner's statement. The Petitioner argues counsel should have objected to the admission of his statement on the basis that the Petitioner was not given adequate Miranda warnings since the first warning given to the Petitioner did not include the right to stop or terminate questioning at any time. The Respondent submits probative evidence exists to support the post-conviction relief court's findings that counsel's performance was not ineffective and that the Petitioner received complete Miranda. The petition should be denied and the appeal dismissed.

In a post-conviction relief action, the Applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. The Applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief.

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the Applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, citing Strickland. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. The Respondent submits that the Petitioner did not satisfy either requirement of the Strickland test.

On appeal, this Court must affirm the circuit court's denial of post-conviction relief when there is probative evidence to support the findings of the circuit court. Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 485 S.E.2d 369 (1997); Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

The Respondent submits counsel was not ineffective for failing to move to suppress the Petitioner's statement on the basis that his first Miranda¹ warning was incomplete because it did not include an advisement to the Petitioner on the right to stop or terminate questioning at any time. "To give force to the Constitution's protection against compelled self-incrimination, the United States Supreme Court established in Miranda certain procedural safeguards that require police to advise criminal suspects of their rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments before commencing custodial interrogation". State v. Hoyle, 397 S.C. 622, 626, 725 S.E.2d 720. 722 (2012) (quoting Duckworth v. Eagar, 492 U.S. 195, 201 (1989)). The Miranda court held that a suspect in custody must be warned of the following rights:

1. He has the right to remain silent.
2. Anything he says can be used against him in a court of law.
3. He was the right to the present of an attorney.

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 486 (1966).

4. If he cannot afford an attorney one will be appointed to him prior to any questions if he so desires. Id.

The testimony presented a trial shows the Petitioner was questioned on two occasions by two different police officers. The Petitioner is challenging the first Miranda warning given.² First, the Petitioner was questioned by Officer Chris Widmer. Officer Widmer testified he advised the Petitioner of his rights after arrest. (App. 321:20-22). He testified his advice to the Petitioner pursuant to Miranda was as follows:

Before we ask you any questions you must understand you have the right to remain silent. Anything you say can be used against you in Court. You have the right to talk to a lawyer for advice before we ask you questions and have a lawyer present while you're being requested. If you cannot afford a lawyer, one will be appointed for you before any questions—before any questioning, if you wish. (App. 67:5-15).

Based on this testimony, the advisement provided to the Petitioner was complete and included all the warnings required by Miranda. The Respondent submits counsel could not have been ineffective for failing to object to the warning given by Officer Widmer because the warning given was complete.

The Respondent also submits this Court should look to State v. Cannon and State v. Hoyle as they are both dispositive on this issue of whether Miranda requires advice on the right to terminate questioning at any time. In Cannon, the defendant alleged his initial warnings were insufficient and incomplete because they did not include the following: "If you decide to answer any questions without a lawyer present, you will still have the right to stop answering at any time or until you talk to a lawyer." 260 S.C. 537, 543, 197 S.E.2d 678, 680 (1973). This Court held that Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 486 (1966), did not require the inclusion of the above when informing a person of his rights. Id.

² The Petitioner was given Miranda warnings a second time by Officer Doug Hester. Officer Hester's testimony indicates he advised the Petitioner of his right to terminate or stop questioning at any time. (App. 79:6-10).

In Hoyle, the defendant alleged the officer did not advise him that he had a right to terminate interrogation at any time and to not answer any further questions. 397 S.C. 622, 725 S.E.2d 720 (2012). Like the Petitioner, Hoyle relied on State v. Kennedy, and argued this fifth warning was required. 325 S.C. 295, 479 S.E.2d 838 (Ct. App. 1996). The Court held the language of Miranda is clear that the right to terminate the interrogation at any time and to not answer any further questions is not a required Miranda warning. It held further Miranda only requires four warnings, and the United States Supreme Court did not include the right to terminate the interrogation at any time as one of the four warnings. Id. at 627, 479 S.E.2d at 723. The Hoyle Court went on to conclude the South Carolina Supreme Court does not interpret Miranda to require an oral or written warning on the right to terminate an interrogation at any time and not to answer any further questions. Id. at 629, 479 S.E.2d at 724.

The Petitioner asserts this Court should rely on State v. Kennedy, however, this was the same argument advanced by the defendant in Hoyle and rejected by the Court of Appeals. In Hoyle, the Court of Appeals held the language in Kennedy that seemed to imply the recognition of a fifth warning was dicta and that Cannon served as the controlling precedent for purposes of review. Id.

The Respondent submits counsel's performance was reasonable under the circumstances. Counsel adequately challenged the admissibility of the Petitioner's statement by requesting a Jackson v. Denno hearing and by adequately cross-examining the witnesses presented by the State during the hearing. In light of the controlling case law on this issue, counsel was not ineffective for failing to move to suppress the Petitioner's statement on the basis that the initial Miranda warning he received did not include advisement on the right to terminate questioning.

The Respondent also submits the Petitioner was not prejudiced in any way by counsel's performance. Any motion made on this basis would have been futile and meritless. In support of his prejudice argument, the Petitioner asserts "the police cannot cure defective Miranda warnings with correct Miranda warnings after incriminating information is elicited" and cites Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004) and State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010)³ in support of this assertion. The Respondent submits this Court need not address the inability of the Petitioner's second Miranda warning to cure the omission of the fifth warning because the initial Miranda warning given to the Petitioner was not defective. The Respondent submits there is probative evidence to support the lower court's ruling that the Petitioner failed to carry his burden of proving both deficiency and prejudice as a result of counsel's failure to move to suppress the Petitioner's statements on the basis that he was not advised before giving his initial statement that he could stop or terminate the questioning at any time.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.